2010-CA-01443T

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Torsha Buckley v. Herley R. Pounds, II and Pearl River Valley Electric Power Association, 2010-CA-00683

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons and entities as described in the fourth sentence of Rule 28(a)(1) have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the judges of this court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Torsha Buckley

Appellant

Herley R. Pounds, II Pearl River Valley Electric Power Association Appellees

Carlos E. Moore

Attorneys for the Appellant

Tangala L. Hollis

LeAnn W. Nealey, Esq.

Attorneys for the Appellees

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Issue 1

Whether the trial Court abused its discretion in excluding testimony regarding Dr. Guy T. Vise's treatment and/or evaluation of Appellant Buckley.

II. Issue 2

Whether Court erred in initially granting Appellant's motion to admit evidence after no objection from lead counsel for Appellees, then overruling previous admission of evidence after co-counsel for Appellees objected, resulting in evidence being marked solely for identification.

III. Issue 3

Whether Court erred in not issuing sua sponte motion to strike Appellees' counsel's misstatement of the law during closing arguments, and/or not administering curative instruction to jury, after Appellant alerted Court regarding Appellees' counsel's misstatement of the law during closing arguments.

IV. Issue 4

Whether Court erred in granting jury instructions, reading them aloud to the jury, then subsequently manually striking and denying the instruction he had approved regarding apportionment of damages, which are supported by case law.

V. Issue 5

Whether Court erred in denying Appellant's Motion for Judgment Not Withstanding the Verdict (JNOV), or in the Alternative, Motion for a New Trial, and Motion for Additur.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a personal injury case on appeal from the Order of Judgment, and the Order Denial of the Circuit Court of Jefferson Davis County, wherein liability had been admitted prior to trial, and the jury rendered a verdict for Appellant Buckley for \$15,000.00.

On or about January 2, 2008, Appellant Torsha Buckley (hereinafter Appellant Buckley) was stopped at a red light behind another vehicle at the intersection of Columbia Avenue and John Street in Prentiss, Mississippi. Appellee, Herley R. Pounds II, was driving a vehicle belonging to Pearl River Valley Electric Power Association, traveling Northbound on Columbia Avenue, and negligently collided into the rear of the Appellant Buckley's vehicle. Appellant Buckley suffered injuries as a result of the subject collision.

As a result of the foregoing, Appellant Buckley filed her original Complaint on the basis of motor vehicle negligence and general negligence in the Circuit Court of Jefferson Davis County against Appellee Herley R. Pounds II on or about August 26, 2008. (Rec. p.13-14). Appellant Buckley filed her Amended Complaint against Appellees Herley R. Pounds II and Pearl River Valley Electric Power Association (EPA) (hereinafter Appellees) on or about September 19, 2008. (Rec. p.17-18). Appellees filed their Answer to Appellant Buckley's Amended Complaint on or about November 25, 2008, wherein they admitted Appellant was stopped at a red light at the intersection of Columbia Avenue and John Street in Prentiss, Mississippi, Appellee Pounds was operating a vehicle owned by Appellee EPA, traveling Northbound on Columbia Avenue, and Appellee Pounds negligently collided into the rear of Appellant Buckley's vehicle.

(Rec. 23). Appellees also admitted that Appellee EPA was vicariously liable for Appellee Pounds' negligence under the theory of *respondent superior*. (Rec. 23).

Appellant Buckley subsequently filed a motion for partial summary judgment based on Appellees' admission of negligence. An Agreed Order was entered granting Appellant Buckley's motion for partial summary judgment, leaving only the issue of damages to be determined. (Rec. 32).

The instant matter subsequently came on trial before a twelve (12) person jury and the Honorable R.I. Prichard, III, commencing on July 28, 2010, and ending July 29, 2010. An Order of Judgment reflecting the \$15,000 verdict was entered August 11, 2010. (Rec. 280). Appellant Buckley filed a Motion for Judgment Not Withstanding the Verdict (JNOV), or in the Alternative, Motion for a New Trial on or about August 5th and 9th of 2010. (Rec. 287-288). Appellant Buckley also filed a Motion for Additur on or about August 19, 2010. (Rec. 282). Judge Prichard erroneously denied the motions, and entered an Order of Denial reflecting the same on August 23, 2010. (Rec. 290-292).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Liability was admitted in the instant matter, thus, a determination of damages was the only issue to be resolved. Appellant Buckley incurred severe physical injuries as a result of the subject collision, which resulted in pain and suffering, a significant loss in wage earning capacity, and a substantial amount of medical expenses. Appellant Buckley incurred approximately \$43,422.11 in medical expenses. The jury's award of only \$15,000.00 was as a result of numerous errors of the trial Court, especially regarding pertinent evidence.

Judge Prichard erred in excluding testimony regarding Dr. Guy T. Vise's treatment and/or evaluation of Appellant Buckley. While Dr. Vise died prior to trial, Appellant Buckley's other treating and/or evaluating physician(s) had access to his records, and should have been allowed to testify thereto. Also, Judge Prichard erred in initially admitting evidence of Appellant Buckley's expert witnesses after no objection from lead counsel for Appellees, then overruling the admission, after co-counsel for Appellees objected, resulting in evidence being marked solely for identification. Judge Prichard also erred regarding the submission of jury instructions.

Judge Prichard erred in not administering curative instructions to the jury after Appellant Buckley's counsels alerted Judge Prichard that counsel for Appellees conveyed a misstatement of the law regarding damages to the jury during closing arguments. Additionally, the trial Court erred in not administering a *sua sponte* motion to strike Appellees' counsel's misstatement of the law during closing arguments. Judge Prichard also erred in granting jury instructions, reading them aloud to the jury, then subsequently,

manually, striking and denying the instructions he had approved regarding apportionment of damages, which are supported by case law.

Finally, the trial Court erred in denying Appellant Buckley's Motion for Judgment Not Withstanding the Verdict (JNOV), or in the Alternative, for a New Trial, and Appellant Buckley's Motion for Additur, or in the Alternative, for a New Trial.

ARGUMENT

Court can disturb a jury verdict if court finds that damages are excessive or inadequate for the reason that the jury was influenced by bias, prejudice, or passion, so as to shock the conscience, or that the damages awarded were contrary to the overwhelming weight of credible evidence, and Supreme Court is not authorized to disturb jury verdict as to damages because it seems too high or too low. *Junior Food Stores, Inc. v. Rice*, 671 So.2d 67 (Miss. 1996).

In reviewing a trial court's grant or denial of an additur, the Court of Appeals applies an abuse-of-discretion standard of review. *Clark v. Deakle*, 800 So.2d 1227 (Miss. App. 2001).

I. The trial Court abused its discretion in excluding testimony regarding Dr. Guy T. Vise's treatment and/or evaluation of Appellant Buckley.

"'Abuse of discretion' is found when the reviewing court has a definite and firm conviction that the court below committed a clear error of judgment and the conclusion it reached upon a weighing of the relevant factors." Howard v. TotalFina E & P USA, Inc., 899 So.2d 882 (Miss. 2005). "When an appellate court reviews a decision that is within the trial court's discretion, it first asks if the court below applied the correct legal standard, and if the trial court applied the right legal standard, then the appellate court will affirm a trial court's decision, unless there is a definite and firm conviction that the court below committed a clear error of judgment in the conclusion it reached upon weighing of relevant factors." Scoggins v. Ellzey Beverages, Inc., (Miss. 1999). One of the decisions within the trial court's discretion is the admission of evidence. The admission of pertinent and significant evidence has a profound effect on the outcome of a case, particularly, a case that is being tried before a jury. In the instant matter, Appellant

Buckley had been treated by several physicians concerning her physical condition. Evidence of her treatment and her evaluations were pertinent to the jury's assessment of her compensatory damages. Judge Prichard abused his discretion when he excluded testimony regarding Dr. Guy T. Vise's treatment and/or evaluation of Appellant Buckley.

Appellees' counsels designated Dr. Guy T. Vise as one of their experts, who conducted an Independent Medical Evaluation (IME) of Appellant Buckley on or about November 19, 2009. Sometime in December of 2009, Dr. Vise passed away; however, Dr. David Gandy took over Dr. Vise's practice, and had access to all of Dr. Vise's records, including the IME Dr. Vise conducted of Appellant Buckley. Appellees subsequently sought leave of the trial Court to exclude testimony regarding Dr. Vise's evaluation of Appellant Buckley, alleging his findings were not based upon sufficient facts or data, and that his report was hearsay. However, not only was Dr. Vise's IME an exception to the hearsay rule, his findings were clearly based upon sufficient facts and data. "Two underlying reasons for any exception to hearsay rule are necessity for the exception, and circumstantial guaranty of trustworthiness of offered evidence." Hercules, Inc. v. Walters, 434 So.2d 723 (Miss. 1983). The instant matter is analogous to Hercules, Inc. v. Walters.

In *Hercules*, Mr. Robert J. Walters was employed by Hercules in 1945, and was injured on December 19, 1951, when he tripped and fell. *Hercules*, 434 So.2d 723, 724. He was treated by Dr. T.E. Ross at the Methodist Hospital Clinic in Hattiesburg, Mississippi. *Id.* Dr. Ross filed a surgeon's preliminary report in duplicate, with one copy being retained at the Hattiesburg Plant of Hercules, and the other copy being filed at the home office. *Id.* Dr. Ross' final report showed that he rendered first aid to Walters on

December 19, 1951, with office visits on December 28, 1951, January 9 and 15, 1952. *Id.* The report also showed that Walters was discharged with no disability. *Id.* Dr. Ross died three or four years before the workers' compensation hearing. *Id.*

At said hearing, Mrs. Margaret Cargill, a nurse, testified for Hercules. *Id.* Cargill testified that she worked for Dr. Ross in the afternoons after she got off from work at Hercules. *Id.* at 725.

In or about 1976, Walters sought to retire from Hercules, but desired to have his wrist checked before he retired. *Id.* Walters was set up with an appointment to see Dr. William G. Giles, who discovered a mass on Walters' left wrist, and diagnosed Walters as having severe degenerative arthritis. *Id.* Dr. Giles was shown the report of Dr. Ross and testified that if all the information contained in Dr. Ross' report was true, Walters' problem with his wrist was a result of a fracture of the wrist sustained nine years before his December 1951 work accident, and not from a sprain. *Id.* However, there were no records available at the hospital prior to 1951. *Id.*

Hercules filed a final report and settlement receipt with the Workmen's Compensation Commission on July 20, 1978. *Id.* The report showed that it had paid Walters \$4,200 compensation for 25 percent loss of the use of the left wrist, \$300 for temporary total disability, and medical, hospital and other expenses in the amount of \$1,692.93. *Id.* Walters filed a motion to controvert on February 7, 1979. *Id.*

The administrative judge denied Walters' claim, holding that his current medical problem with his wrist was due to an old fracture which occurred before Walters' employment with Hercules. *Id.* This order was affirmed by the full Commission, and Walters appealed to the Circuit Court of Forrest County, which held that it was error to

admit the report of Dr. Ross into evidence as hearsay, and for the additional reason that the report of Dr. Ross was inadmissible because it was neither reliable nor trustworthy. *Id.* However, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that Dr. Ross' records were an exception to the hearsay rule, and his records were trustworthy.

The Hercules Court held that the two underlying reasons for any exception to the hearsay rule are: (1) a necessity for the exception, and (2) a circumstantial guaranty of the trustworthiness of the offered evidence. Id. at 727. Under Hercules, the Circuit Court of Jefferson Davis County should have held that Dr. Vise's IME report of Appellant Buckley was a necessity, and there was a circumstantial guaranty for the trustworthiness of his report. The IME report was certainly necessary, as it was developed by a physician who actually treated or evaluated Appellant Buckley, and who was certainly in a better position to render a reliable opinion. It is clear that the Appellees sought to exclude Dr. Vise' IME report because it was detrimental to their case, as the report substantiated that Appellant Buckley's physical disabilities and current physical complaints were proximately caused by the subject accident. There is no other reasonable explanation that counsel for the Appellees would seek to exclude the evidence of their own initial expert. Further, even if Dr. Vise's reports are declared as hearsay, Dr Gandy, the physician who took over Dr. Vise's practice, admitted during his deposition testimony that he had access to all of Dr. Vise's medical records, making Dr. Vise's reports an exception to the hearsay rule under the business record exception.

A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, opinions or diagnosis, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge, if kept in the course of a regularly conducted

business activity, and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make the memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness or self-authenticated pursuant to Rule 902(11), unless the source of information or the method or circumstances of preparation indicate lack of trustworthiness. The term "business" as used in this paragraph includes business, institution, association, profession, occupation, and calling of every kind, whether or not conducted for profit. Miss. R. Evid. 803(6), Records of Regularly Conducted Activity.

The foundational requirements for admitting evidence under the business records exception are: 1) the statement is in written or recorded form; 2) the record concerns acts, events, conditions, opinions or diagnoses; 3) the record was made at or near the time of the matter recorded; 4) the source of the information had personal knowledge of the matter; 5) the record was kept in the course of regular business activity; and 6) it was the regular practice of the business activity to make the record. *Flowers v. State*, 773 So. 2d 309, 322 (Miss. 2000). In *Flowers*, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that person who is familiar with the contents, terms, and meaning of a form is competent to give testimony regarding the foundational requirements of the business record exception. *Id.* at 332-33.

Under Rule 803(6), the focus is properly placed on the time period when the documents were created, the trustworthiness of the documents, and whether their creation was in the regular course of business. "It is not necessary to call or to account for all participants who made the record." Miss. Gaming Comm'n v. Freeman, 747 So. 2d 231, 242 (Miss. 1999); Miss. R. Evid 803(6) cmt. It is only necessary that testimony concerning the source of these documents is offered by an individual "with knowledge

who is acting in the course and scope of the regularly conducted activity." *Id.* As demonstrated above, the records of a deceased or retired physician are passed on to the physician who takes over the practice, in the regular course of business. Therefore, Dr. Vise's records regarding Appellant Buckley, particularly, his IME, should not have been excluded, as Dr. Gandy was competent to testify as to their contents, and to authenticate the documents.

II. The trial Court erred in initially granting Appellant's motion to admit evidence after no objection from lead counsel for Appellees, then overruling previous admission of evidence after co-counsel for Appellees objected, resulting in evidence being marked solely for identification.

The admissibility and relevancy of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and, absent an abuse of that discretion, the trial court's decision will not be disturbed on appeal. Reynolds v. State, 784 So. 2d 929, 932 (Miss. 2001). "As long as the trial court remains within the confines of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, its decision to admit or exclude evidence will be accorded a high degree of deference." Johnston v. State, 567 So. 2d 237, 238 (Miss. 1990). Additionally, "the admission or exclusion of evidence must result in prejudice or harm, if a cause is to be reversed on that account." Jackson v. State, 594 So. 2d 20, 25 (Miss. 1992). In only marking the economic report and resume of Dr. Glenda Glover for identification, and not admitting the same into evidence, Appellant Buckley was prejudiced, and harmed as a result.

In the instant matter, counsel for Appellant attempted to admit the report and resume of economic expert Dr. Glenda Glover into evidence during Dr. Glover's testimony. After counsel for Appellant had properly laid the foundation for said evidence, authenticated it, and obtained no objection from lead counsel for Appellees, the trial

Court granted counsel for Appellant's motion to admit the report and resume. Subsequent to the trial Court's admission of the evidence, second chair counsel for the Appellees objected to the admission of the evidence as duplicative, and the report and resume were only marked for identification. As a result, the jury was only allowed to hear testimony of Dr. Glover's report, which demonstrated Appellant Buckley's loss of earning and/or earning capacity, and was a significant element of Appellant Buckley's damages to be evaluated by the jury. Appellant Buckley was severely prejudiced in the trial Court's overruling itself, after initially admitting the evidence, in that the jury was deprived of the opportunity to have all of the pertinent documentation to evaluate Appellant Buckley's damages. As the trial was one solely of damages, the jury needed to have Dr. Glover's report in-hand, while evaluating Appellant Buckley's damages. As a result of the jury being denied all of the pertinent information, Appellant Buckley received an unjust verdict, constituting reversal of the jury's verdict, and reversal of the trial Court's Order denying Appellant Buckley's Motion for Additur.

III. The trial Court erred in not issuing sua sponte motion to strike Appellees' counsel's misstatement of the law during closing arguments, and/or not administering curative instruction to jury, after Appellant alerted Court regarding Appellees' counsel's misstatement of the law during closing arguments.

The trial judge is in the best position to determine if an alleged objectionable remark has a prejudicial effect. *Roundtree v. State*, 568 So. 2d 1173, 1177 (Miss. 1990). Furthermore, this Court has held that "when the trial judge sustains an objection to testimony and he directs the jury to disregard it, prejudicial error does not result." *Estes v. State*, 533 So. 2d 437, 439 (Miss. 1988). The jury is presumed to understand that the court disapproves of any testimony when an objection is sustained. *Id.* at 439. If

sustaining the objection alone is considered to be inadequate to remove the alleged prejudicial effect of the objected matter from the minds of the jury, then the court must be requested to instruct the jury to disregard the matter. Anderson v. Jaeger, 317 So. 2d 902, 906 (Miss. 1975). If opposing counsel does not consider the sustained objection to be adequate, then the trial court should instruct the jury to disregard the matter, otherwise there is no error. Marks v. State, 532 So. 2d 976, 981 (Miss. 1988); General Motors Corp. v. Pegues, 738 So. 2d 746, 754 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998). In the instant matter, it was not testimony that counsel for Appellant objected to, but statements of counsel for Appellees during his closing arguments. As a result of Appellees' counsel's erroneous misstatement of the law, Appellant Buckley was prejudiced.

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