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

Buckley's assignments of error should be denied because she failed to preserve them for 

appeal, failed to support them with citations to the record and facts in her appellate brief, 

suffered no prejudice from the alleged technical defects, and is wrong on the merits. 

With respect to the Circuit Court's alleged failure to allow her to introduce an 

Independent Medical Evaluation Report from Appellees' deceased expert witness, the record 

indicates that Buckley did in fact cross-examine Appellees' subsequently retained expert witness 

with the report. To the extent that Buckley is arguing the Circuit Court should have let her do 

more with the report, this argument is barred not only because she failed to raise it with the trial 

court, but also because she failed to make an offer of proof as to what evidence within the report 

the judge supposedly improperly excluded. Her assignment of error also fails on the merits 

because there is no evidence in the record showing the report qualifies under any exception to the 

hearsay rule. Even if it did, the Circuit Court properly excluded the report pursuant to Miss. R. 

Civ. P. 702 because it was not based upon sufficient facts or data because Buckley received 

additional medical treatment and examinations after it was written, and the report expressly 

states it is subject to revision upon receipt of additional information. Furthermore, the report 

could not have been introduced into evidence because the doctor who wrote it was not - and 

could not have been - qualified as an expert at the time of trial due to his untimely death. In any 

event, Buckley was not denied a substantial right by not being able to introduce as substantive 

evidence an outdated, incomplete report from a physician who is no longer living - especially 

considering the jury heard from three physicians who treated and evaluated Buckley based on her 

most recent and comprehensive diagnostic tests, examinations, and pertinent data. 
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The Circuit Court also properly excluded the report of Buckley's economic loss expert 

because it would have improperly enhanced the expert's testimony. Moreover, Buckley'S 

counsel agreed to the exclusion of the report. In any event, Buckley suffered no prejudice 

because the expert testified in detail about the findings and conclusions of her report. 

The assignment of error relating to the purported misstatement of law by Appellees' 

counsel during closing arguments fails for at least three reasons. First, it was not a misstatement 

oflaw. Second, Buckley is barred from raising this issue on appeal because she failed to make a 

contemporaneous objection at trial. Third, the Circuit Judge's jury instructions corrected any 

potential misstatement of law during closing arguments. 

Buckley's argument that the Circuit Court failed to properly instruct the jury about 

Appellees' potential liability for aggravating her preexisting injury fails under established case 

law and because the jury's own verdict shows that it understood and followed the law. 

Finally, the Circuit Court properly denied Buckley's motion for an additur as shown by a 

recent case from the Mississippi Court of Appeals, Hubbard v. Delta Sanitation of Mississippi. 

The "evidence" presented by Buckley not only failed to show she was entitled to her requested 

damages, it actually undermined her case at just about every turn. To the extent Buckley 

elicited any favorable testimony or evidence at trial, Appellees effectively rebutted that evidence 

on cross-examination by showing it to be false, misleading, and/or completely fabricated. 

Moreover, it was Appellees - not Buckley - who submitted the unrefuted medical testimony that 

her purported injuries were not caused by the automobile accident with Pounds. The record not 

only shows a complete lack of support for Buckley's claim for an additur, it shows quite 

overwhelmingly that Buckley received more than she should have. 
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ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

I. The Circuit Court properly excluded Dr. Vise's Independent Medical Evaluation 
Report. 

An appellate court "grants a high degree of deference to the trial court's decision to 

suppress or admit evidence and will not find error absent a clear abuse of discretion resulting in 

prejudice." Jones v. Jones, 43 So. 3d 465, 483 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). The burden is on the 

proponent of the evidence. Jolly v. State, 269 So. 2d 650, 654-655 (Miss. 1972). Furthermore, 

"a party must do more than simply show some technical error has occurred before he will be 

entitled to a reversal on the exclusion or admission of evidence; there must be some showing of 

prejudice." Baine v. River Oaks Convalescent Ctr., 791 So. 2d 844, 847 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) 

(quoting Pham v. State, 716 So. 2d 1100, 1102 (Miss. 1998)). 

Appellees' initial expert witness, Dr. Guy Vise, performed an Independent Medical 

Evaluation of Buckley and documented his findings in an Independent Medical Evaluation 

Report (the "Vise IME Report"). (See R. at 228.) A few weeks later, Dr. Vise passed away. 

(/d.) Appellees designated Dr. David Gandy as their new expert. (/d. at 089-098.) 

Before trial, Appellees filed a Motion In Limine to Exclude References to Independent 

Medical Evaluation of Dr. Guy Vise. (Id. at 228-230.) Appellees argued the report was 

inadmissible under Miss. R. Civ. P. 702 because it was not based upon sufficient facts or data 

because Buckley underwent additional medical treatment and examinations after it was written. 

(/d.) Specifically, she received treatment from three additional physicians, underwent two 

MRI's, a myelogram, and a CT scan. Dr. Vise expressly stated in his report: 

The above analysis is based upon the available information at this time, including 
... the medical records and tests provided . . .. If more information becomes 
available at a later date, an additional report may be requested. Such information 
mayor may not change the opinions rendered in this evaluation. 

(See id at 229.) 
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Accordingly, Appellees claimed the Vise IME Report should not be admitted because it 

was speculative to assume that Dr. Vise's opinions would remain the same if he were still alive 

and had access to Buckley's additional medical records and diagnostic reports. (Id.) Appellees 

also noted the report was inadmissible hearsay and could not be authenticated (Id.) The record 

does not show that Buckley responded to Appellees' motion, argued any basis for admitting the 

report, or made any offer of proof The Circuit Court granted the motion. (Id. at 281.) 

Now, apparently for the first time on appeal, Buckley argues the Circuit Court erred in 

excluding the Vise IME Report. Because the record does not show Buckley raised this issue with 

the trial court, she is barred from doing so on appeal. See, e.g., Crowe v. Smith, 603 So. 2d 301, 

305 (Miss. 1992) ("[A]n appellant is not entitled to raise a new issue on appeal, since to do so 

prevents the trial court from having an opportunity to address the alleged error."). Moreover, the 

record indicates that Buckley did in fact cross-examine Appellees' expert witness, Dr. Gandy, 

with the Vise IME Report in his videotaped deposition - which was apparently shown in its 

entirety at trial. (5 R.Tr. at 281 :8-21, Tr.Ex. 12 at 40:12-49:6.) Thus, while the report should 

have been excluded at trial, it apparently was not. 

To the extent that Buckley is arguing the Circuit Court should have let her do more with 

the Vise IME Report, her argument is barred not only because she failed to raise it with the trial 

court, but also because she failed to make an offer of proof as to what evidence within the report 

the judge supposedly improperly excluded.4 "Mississippi Rule of Evidence 103(2) states that, if 

4 Even On appeal, Buckley makes only conclusory and vague allegations about the contents of the 
Vise IME Report without any citation to the record or other supporting facts. See App. Br. at 11-16. 
Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 28(a)(6) states: "[T]he brief of the appellant shall contain ... the 
contentions of [the] appellant with respect to the issues presented, and the reasons for those contentions, 
with citations to the authorities, statutes, and parts of the record relied on." Mississippi appellate courts 
have held the "[t]ailure to comply with M.R.A.P. 28(a)(6) renders an argument procedurally barred." 
Birrages v. Ill. Cent. R.R., 950 So. 2d 188, 194 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); see also Estate of Bellino v. 
Bellino, 52 So. 3d 423, 425 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010); Sorey v. Crosby, 989 So. 2d 485, 487 (Miss. Ct. App. 
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the court rules certain proposed evidence inadmissible, in order to assert that ruling as error on 

appeal, 'the substance of the evidence' must be 'made known to the court by offer' unless its 

relevancy is apparent from the context of the question." Stapleton v. State, 790 So. 2d 897, 

900 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) (quoting Miss. R. Evid. 103(2». For this additional reason, the 

assignment of error is not proper for review and should be denied. 

Buckley's assignment of error also fails on the merits. She claims the Vise IME Report 

should have been admitted into evidence because it falls within the "business record" exception 

to the hearsay rule. She argues, "Dr. Gandy, the physician who took over Dr. Vise's practice, 

admitted during his deposition testimony that he had access to all of Dr. Vise's medical records, 

making Dr. Vise's reports an exception to the hearsay rule under the business record exception." 

See App. Br. at 14. Just because Dr. Gandy might have had "access" to Dr. Vise's medical 

records, does not mean he can properly testify about the foundational requirements of the 

business record exception. See, e.g., Harveston v. State, 798 So. 2d 638, 641 (Miss. Ct. App. 

200 I) ("Problems may arise when one business organization seeks to introduce records in its 

possession but actually prepared by another. Obviously, mere possession or 'custody' of records 

under these circumstances does not qualify employees of the possessing party to lay the requisite 

foundation, and transmittal of information by the custodian regarding the contents of records in 

the custodian's possession does not qualify the recipient to lay the foundation."). 

The record on appeal indicates that Dr. Gandy had no personal knowledge of whether the 

Vise IME Report met any of the foundational requirements of the business record exception. 

2008); Edwards v. State, 856 So. 2d 587, 599 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) ("It is the appellant's duty to provide 
authority and support for the issues he presents. Issues of error which are unsupported by citation or 
authority are considered abandoned.") For this additional reason, Buckley's assignment of error should 
be barred. 

13 



(Tr.Ex. 12 at 40:8-14,49:13-51:14.) In fact, Dr. Gandy testified he was not even aware of the 

report. (Id. at 40:8-14.) Accordingly, Buckley's argument fails. 

Buckley also argues - again, for the first time on appeal - that the Circuit Court should 

have crafted a special hearsay exception for the Vise IME Report pursuant to Hercules, Inc. v. 

Walters,434 So. 2d 723 (Miss. 1983). In Hercules, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that a 

report from a deceased physician qualified as an exception to the hearsay rule in a worker's 

compensation case. Id. at 727. The Court stated, "[t]he two underlying reasons for any 

exception to the hearsay rule are: (1) a necessity for the exception, and (2) a circumstantial 

guaranty of the trustworthiness of the offered evidence." [d. It found necessity because there 

were no other medical records available. Id. It found a circumstantial guaranty of trustworthiness 

because the physician's nurse corroborated the underlying facts based on her personal knowledge 

and involvement, and because the report qualified as a business record. Id. 

The only similarity between Hercules and the instant case is the unfortunate fact that a 

physician passed away after writing a medical report. Otherwise, the two cases are remarkably 

dissimilar. As a threshold matter, "[a]lthough deceased physician's reports have been held, under 

certain circumstances, to be admissible in worker's compensation cases, the holding has been 

limited to the area of worker's compensation." Jones v. Hatchett, 504 So. 2d 198, 203 (Miss. 

1987). In any event, unlike the report in Hercules, there is no necessity for the Vise IME Report 

because all of Buckley's medical records are available. To be sure, the jury heard testimony 

from several physicians who had evaluated Buckley and had reviewed her medical records and 

diagnostic tests. Furthermore, unlike the nurse in Hercules who testified about the 

trustworthiness of the offered evidence based on her own personal knowledge, there is no such 

testimony in this case. In fact, the only "testimony" comes from Dr. Vise himself, when he 

states in his own report that it might not be accurate "[i]f more information becomes available at 
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the party against whom evidence has been erroneously received has been denied a substantial 

right." Ponthieux v. State, 532 So. 2d 1239, 1248 (Miss. 1988). This standard also applies when 

evidence has been erroneously omitted. Heidel v. State, 587 So. 2d 835, 844 (Miss. 1991). The 

jury heard from three physicians who treated and evaluated Buckley based on the most recent 

and comprehensive diagnostic tests, examinations, and pertinent data. Buckley was not denied a 

substantial right when the Circuit Court did not allow her to introduce as substantive evidence 

(but did allow her to cross-examine Dr. Gandy with) an outdated, incomplete IME report from a 

physician who is no longer living and who expressly stated the report was subject to revision 

upon receipt of additional information. For all the foregoing reasons, this assignment of error 

should be denied. 

II. The Circuit Court properly excluded Dr. Glover's economic loss report. 

Buckley argues the Circuit Court erred by initially ruling Dr. Glover's economic loss 

report could be introduced into evidence, but then ruling it could not after Appellees objected. 

See App. Br. at 16-17. While there was a slight delay in the objection, the Circuit Court 

apparently found it was not such to deem the objection waived. (Tr. at 107:10-108:13.) The 

Circuit Court excluded the report because it would improperly enhance Dr. Glover's testimony: 

[Appellees 1 can't cross-examine a report. And so it would be better to let [Dr. 
Glover 1 do her own testifying, and the report really doesn't need to - because then 
we're going to be in a position on appeal, the Supreme Court saying the jury 
heard from the witness, and then you enhanced that witness's testimony by 
offering a document that says the same thing the witness does. So you're 
highlighting one witness's testimony, which obviously isn't the proper way to get 
the testimony in. 

(Id. at 109:12-25.) 

This ruling is hornbook law. See, e.g., Kroger Co. v. Scott, 809 So. 2d 679, 687 (Miss. 

Ct. App. 2001) ("[Aldmitting both the incident report as well as the testimony of the author of 

the report is unnecessary. To admit both would produce cumulative evidence that merely bolsters 
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a later date .... " (See R. at 229.) Furthermore, as shown above, the report does not fall within 

the business record exception. Accordingly, the Hercules case does not support Buckley's post

mortem argument that the Vise IME Report was admissible under a special hearsay exception. 

Even if the report did qualify for an exception to the hearsay rule, the Circuit Court 

nonetheless properly excluded it pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 702 because it was not based upon 

sufficient facts or data because Buckley received additional medical treatment and examinations 

after it was written. In response to this argument, Buckley does not rely on any facts, citations to 

the record, legal arguments or authority - instead, she merely states: "[Dr. Vise's] findings were 

clearly based upon sufficient facts and data." App. Br. at 12. This is not only patently 

insufficient,S it is factually incorrect. As discussed in more detail above, after the report was 

written and Dr. Vise had passed away, Buckley underwent additional MRI's, a myelogram, a CT 

scan, and received additional treatment from several physicians. This, coupled with the fact that 

the Vise IME Report states it is subject to revision if more information becomes available, shows 

the report's facts and data are speculative at best and do not satisfy the requirements of Rule 702. 

Additionally, the Vise IME Report could not have been introduced as evidence because 

Dr. Vise was not - and could not have been - qualified as an expert at the time of trial due to his 

untimely death. See Univ. Med. etr. v. Martin, 994 So. 2d 740, 745 (Miss. 2008) ("[T]he 

acceptance or refusal of expert testimony falls within the sound discretion of the trial court and .. 

. this Court will only reverse a trial judge's decision if it was 'arbitrary and clearly erroneous.'"

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